
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF OHIO

WESTERN DIVISION

CRISTIE R. REYNOLDS : Case No. 1:13-cv-146
:

-and- : J. ____________________
:

KERRI E. BREEZE :
:

-and- :
:

JENNIFER HERNANDEZ :
:

-and- :
:

TINA M. REYNOLDS :
:

-and- :
:

ELIZABETH A. ROGERS :
:

-and- :
:

MEGHAN G. VERPLANK :
:

-and- :
:

STEPHANIE L. OCHOA :
:

Plaintiffs, :
:

-v- : COMPLAINT WITH JURY
: DEMAND ENDORSED HEREON

CHIPOTLE MEXICAN GRILL :
c/o National Registered Agents, Inc. :
1300 East Ninth Street :
Cleveland, OH 44114 :

:
Defendant. :
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Come now Plaintiffs Cristie R. Reynolds, Kerri E. Breeze, Jennifer Hernandez, Tina M.

Reynolds, Elizabeth A. Rogers, Meghan G.Verplank, and Stephanie L. Ochoa  (collectively

“Plaintiffs” or individually as “Plaintiff”), by and through counsel, and for their Complaint state

as follows:

PARTIES

1. Plaintiff Cristie R. Reynolds is a citizen and resident of the State of Ohio.

2. Plaintiff Kerri E. Breeze is a citizen and resident of the State of Kentucky.

3. Plaintiff Jennifer Hernandez is a citizen and resident of the State of Ohio.

4. Plaintiff Tina M. Reynolds is a citizen and resident of the State of Ohio.

5. Plaintiff Elizabeth A. Rogers is a citizen and resident of the State of Ohio.

6. Plaintiff Meghan G. Verplank is a citizen and resident of the State of Kentucky.

7. Plaintiff Stephanie L. Ochoa is a citizen and resident of the State of Ohio.

8. Defendant Chipotle Mexican Grill is a foreign corporation doing business in the

State of Ohio.  Defendant is an employer within the meaning of federal and state law.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

9. This Court has jurisdiction over Count I pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1331 because

Count I arises under the laws of the United States, including the Title VII of the Civil Rights Act

of 1964 as amended (“Title VII”).  

10. This Court has supplemental jurisdiction over the state law claims in Count II

pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1367 on the grounds that Plaintiffs’ state law claims are so related to their

federal claims over which the Court has original jurisdiction that they form a part of the same

case or controversy.
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11. This Court has jurisdiction to hear this case pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1332 because 

the parties are completely diverse and the amount in controversy exceeds $75,000.

12. Plaintiffs filed timely charges of discrimination with the Equal Employment

Opportunity Commission (“EEOC”).  Plaintiffs Cristie Reynolds, Breeze, Hernandez, Rogers

and Verplank filed their charges on March 5, 2012, Plaintiff Breeze filed her charge on March 2,

2012, Plaintiff Tina Reynolds filed her charge on March 7,2012, and Plaintiff Stephanie Ochoa

filed her charge on September 19, 2012, within 300 days of their terminations.

13. Plaintiffs C. Reynolds, Breeze, Hernandez, T. Reynolds, Rogers, and Verplank

were issued Notices of Right to Sue on December 3, 2012.  Plaintiff Ochoa was issued a Notice

of Right to Sue on February 14, 2013.  This Complaint is filed within 90 days of receipt of the

Notices.  

14. Venue is proper in this Division and District because Plaintiffs were employed in

the Southern District of Ohio, Western Division.

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS

Cristie R. Reynolds

15. Plaintiff Cristie R. Reynolds (“Plaintiff C. Reynolds”) is a female who began

working for Defendant on or about February 8, 2004.

16. Plaintiff C. Reynolds most recently held the position of General Manager for

Defendant’s Oxford, Ohio location beginning in 2011.

17. Plaintiff C. Reynolds was fully qualified for her position at all relevant times.

18. In fact, Plaintiff C. Reynolds was promoted every year for her first three years

with Defendant and received a bonus every year.

Case: 1:13-cv-00146-SSB-KLL Doc #: 1 Filed: 03/01/13 Page: 3 of 12  PAGEID #: 3



4

19. On January 4, 2012, Plaintiff C. Reynolds met with her Regional Supervisor,

Brian Patterson (“Patterson”) and was told her was doing a great job and received no negative

feedback.  

20. However, on January 9, 2012, Patterson terminated Plaintiff C. Reynolds from her

position as General Manager of Defendant’s Oxford location.

21. Male employees were treated more favorable than Plaintiff and Plaintiff’s

termination allowed for hiring and retention of male employees.

Kerri E. Breeze

22. Plaintiff Kerri Breeze (“Plaintiff Breeze”) is a female who began working for

Defendant on or about December 1, 2009 as a Manager-In-Training.

23. Plaintiff Breeze most recently held the position of Apprentice under the

supervision of the current general manager and area manager for Defendant’s Kenwood location

beginning in 2010.

24. Plaintiff Breeze was fully qualified for her position at all relevant times.

25. In fact, Plaintiff Breeze was promoted each year while employed with Defendant

and received positive feedback in her review in February 2011 along with a 2% merit increase.

26. However, on May 12, 2011, Defendant terminated Plaintiff Breeze from her

position as General Manager of Defendant’s Kenwood location.

27. Plaintiff Breeze was replaced by a male employee.

Jennifer Hernandez

28. Plaintiff Jennifer Hernandez (“Plaintiff Hernandez”) is a female who began

working for Defendant on or about February 11, 2004.
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29. Plaintiff Hernandez most recently held the position of General Manager for

Defendant’s Clifton, Ohio location beginning in 2011.

30. Plaintiff Hernandez was fully qualified for her position at all relevant times.

31. Defendant’s Regional Supervisor, Brian Patterson (“Patterson”) visited the Clifton

location and was very pleased with the store and received no negative feedback.  

32. However, on September 19, 2011, Patterson terminated Plaintiff Hernandez from

her position as General Manager of Defendant’s Clifton location during her mid-year review.

33. Plaintiff Hernandez was replaced by a male employee.

Tina M. Reynolds

34. Plaintiff Tina Reynolds (“Plaintiff T. Reynolds”) is a female who began working

for Defendant on or about October 22, 2009.

35. Plaintiff T. Reynolds most recently held the position of General Manager for

Defendant’s Western Hills location.

36. Plaintiff T. Reynolds was fully qualified for her position at all relevant times.

37. In fact, Plaintiff T. Reynolds was promoted numerous times during her tenure

with Defendant and received a bonus in 2011.

38. During her six month review, on September 30, 2011, she received “above

expectations” in two categories and was awarded an increase in pay.

39. However, on October 3, 2011, Defendant terminated Plaintiff T. Reynolds from

her position as General Manager of Defendant’s Western Hills location.

40. Plaintiff T. Reynolds was replaced by a male employee.
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Elizabeth A. Rogers

41. Plaintiff Elizabeth Rogers (“Plaintiff Rogers”) is a female who began working for

Defendant 2003.

42. Plaintiff Rogers most recently held the position of General Manager for

Defendant’s Crescent Hills, Kentucky location.

43. Plaintiff Rogers was fully qualified for her position at all relevant times.

44. Plaintiff Rogers notified her Regional Supervisor, Brian Patterson (“Patterson”),

she was pregnant with twins in February 2011.

45. Plaintiff Rogers was put on bed rest in April 2011.

46. Plaintiff Rogers delivered her twins at 24 weeks on May 29, 2011.  One twin did

not survive, while the second twin remained hospitalized until September, 2011.

47. In early July, 2011, Plaintiff Rogers’ brother-in-law died.

48. On or about July 17, 2011, Plaintiff Rogers talked to Patterson and told him she

was not ready to come to work.

49. Patterson proposed part-time status for Plaintiff Rogers, to which she agreed.

50. One week later, Patterson contacted Plaintiff Rogers and told her she could not do

part-time and she must come back to work when her doctor releases her.

51. Plaintiff Rogers returned to work on August 2, 1011.  

52. Herman Mobbs (“Mobbs”) covered Plaintiff Rogers’ store while she was out and

offered to help her ease back into working.

53. The next day Mobbs told Plaintiff Rogers he needed her to cover for him the rest

of that week, but she couldn’t because she had doctor appointment for her son.
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54. On or about September 13, 2011, Jennifer Clark conducted a risk management

audit of Plaintiff Rogers’ store and the store received a good rating and a grade of “B.”

55. Mobbs did an audit ten days later without speaking with Plaintiff Rogers, and the

store received a bad rating and a grade of “D.”

56. Plaintiff Rogers questioned Mobbs the next time he was in the restaurant as to

why he didn’t talked to her and he was hostile and argumentative with Plaintiff.  Plaintiff ended

the interaction in tears.

57. On November 5, Mobbs told Plaintiff Rogers her store was understaffed, even

though she told him she had just hired seven new employees. 

58. Plaintiff Rogers was written up for that discussion with Mobbs.

59. However, on November 16, 2011, Mobbs told Plaintiff Rogers they needed to part

ways and terminated Plaintiff Rogers’ employment.

60. Male employees were treated more favorable than Plaintiff and Plaintiff’s

termination allowed for hiring and retention of male employees.

Meghan G. Verplank

61. Plaintiff Meghan Verplank (“Plaintiff Verplank”) is a female who began working

for Defendant in March, 2005.

62. Plaintiff Verplank most recently held the position of General Manager for

Defendant’s Tylerville location.

63. Plaintiff Verplank was fully qualified for her position at all relevant times.

64. In early July, 2011 an audit was conducted on the Tylersville location on a day

when two apprentice managers were on duty.
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65. The store received a bad audit and Plaintiff Verplank was held accountable even

though she was not at work on the day of the audit.

66. Plaintiff Verplank was going to write up the two managers on duty, but was told

not to by her regional supervisor, Brian Patterson (“Patterson”).

67. On July 28, 2011, Patterson terminated Plaintiff Verplank’s employment with

Defendant.

68. Plaintiff Verplank was replaced by a male employee on the day she was

terminated.

Stephanie L. Ochoa

69. Plaintiff Stephanie L. Ochoa (“Plaintiff Ochoa”) is a female who began working

for Defendant in June 2005.

70. Plaintiff Ochoa was transferred to Defendant’s Downtown Cincinnati location in

August 2008.

71. Plaintiff Ochoa was General Manager of Defendant’s Downtown Cincinnati

location.

72. Plaintiff Ochoa received a bonus every six months during her employment with

Defendant.

73. In January 2012, Defendant’s Managers, Brian Patterson and Herman Mobbs,

visited the Downtown Cincinnati location.

74. After that visit, Brian Patterson told Plaintiff Ochoa that he was very impressed

and the location had improved 100% since his last visit three months earlier.
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75. Despite Brian Patterson’s acknowledgment of Plaintiff Ochoa’s great

performance, Defendant terminated Plaintiff Ochoa only two months later, on March 12, 2012.

76. After her termination, Plaintiff Ochoa received two pay stubs.  One pay stub was a

bonus for Plaintiff Ochoa’s previous six months.  The second pay stub was a pay check, which

gave Plaintiff Ochoa a 2% raise.

77. Plaintiff Ochoa was replaced by a male employee.

78. Defendant engages in a pattern and practice of discriminating against and/or

terminating female managers.

COUNT I

(Gender Discrimination - Title VII)

79. Plaintiffs reallege the foregoing paragraphs as if fully rewritten herein.

80. Plaintiffs are female.

81. Plaintiff were fully qualified for their positions.

82. Defendant’s conduct in discriminating against Plaintiffs include, but is not limited

to, treating them less favorably than similarly situated, male employees and terminating their

employment on account of their gender in violation of Title VII.

83. Defendant’s conduct was intentional, willful, wanton, malicious, and in reckless

disregard of Plaintiffs’ legal rights.

84. Defendant engages in a pattern and practice of discriminating against and/or

terminating female employees.

85. As a direct and proximate result of Defendant’s unlawful conduct, Plaintiffs have

suffered damages and are entitled to judgment and compensation.
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COUNT II

(Gender Discrimination - R.C. Chapter 4112)

86. Plaintiffs reallege the foregoing paragraphs as if fully rewritten herein.

87. Plaintiffs are female.

88. Defendant’s conduct in discriminating against Plaintiffs include, but is not limited

to, treating them less favorably than similarly situated, male employees and terminating their

employment on account of their gender in violation of R.C. Chapter 4112.

89. Defendant’s conduct was intentional, willful, wanton, malicious, and in reckless

disregard of Plaintiffs’ legal rights.

90. Defendant engages in a pattern and practice of discriminating against and/or

terminating female employees.

91. As a direct and proximate result of Defendant’s unlawful conduct, Plaintiffs have

suffered damages and are entitled to judgment and compensation.

COUNT III

(FMLA Interference and Retaliation)

92. Plaintiff Rogers realleges the foregoing paragraphs as if fully rewritten herein.

93. Plaintiff Rogers was an “eligible employee” as defined by 29 U.S.C. §2611

because Defendant employed her for at least 12 months, she worked at least 1,250 hours in the

previous 12-month period, and Defendant employed 50 or more employees.

94. Plaintiff Rogers was entitled to FMLA approved leave for the birth of her child

pursuant to 29 C.F.R. §825.120 and 29 U.S.C. §2611. 
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95. While on leave, Defendant interfered with Plaintiff Rogers’ leave when it required

her to return to work in violation of the FMLA and Defendant’s own policies.

96. Defendant retaliated against Plaintiff Rogers for exercising her rights under the

FMLA by terminating her employment. 

97. Defendant’s actions constitute willful violations of the FMLA, 29 U.S.C. § 2601

et seq.

98. As a result of Defendant’s willful violations of the FMLA, Plaintiff Rogers has

suffered damages and is entitled to relief.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs demand judgment against Defendant as follows:

(a) That Defendant be enjoined from further unlawful conduct as described

herein;

(b) That Plaintiffs be reinstated to their employment;

(c) That Plaintiffs be awarded all lost pay and benefits up until the time of

trial;

(d) That Plaintiffs be awarded all lost pay and benefits from the time of trial

until a reasonable time in the future. 

(e) That Plaintiffs be awarded other compensatory damages;

(f) That Plaintiffs be awarded liquidated damages in an amount equal to any

lost back pay and benefits up until the time of trial;

(g) That Plaintiffs be awarded pre-judgment interest;
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(h) That Plaintiffs be compensated for the adverse tax consequences of

receiving lump sum awards rather than their compensation over several,

separate tax years;

(i) That Plaintiffs be awarded reasonable attorneys' fees; and

(j) That Plaintiffs be awarded all other legal and equitable relief to which they

may be entitled.

Respectfully submitted,

/s/ Kelly Mulloy Myers
Kelly Mulloy Myers (0065698)
Trial Attorney for Plaintiffs
FREKING & BETZ, LLC
525 Vine Street, Sixth Floor
Cincinnati, OH  45202
(513) 721-1975/Fax: (513) 651-2570
kmyers@frekingandbetz.com

JURY DEMAND

Plaintiff hereby demand a trial by jury on all issues so triable.

/s/ Kelly Mulloy Myers
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